IN THE HIGH COURT OF SOUTH AFRICA
WESTERN CAPE DIVISION, CAPE TOWN
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In the matter between:
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ASSOCIATION
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JUDGMENT

BORGSTROM AJ:

1. The Fairview Golf Estate (‘the Estate”) is located in Gordon’s Bay, comprising

residential nodes clustered around a 9-hole golf course. The Applicant

(‘the

HOA") is a body corporate,! with broad responsibilities for the cgre and control

1 Before ihe Estate was established, the development area comprised two larger e‘rve'
3844 and 3846, Gordon's Bay. At the time that the Estate was created, various town pI
were required — in accordance with the (then applicable) Land Use Planning Ordi

, Known as|erven
anning approvals
ance 15 of 1985

(“LUPQ"). In particular, when the competent authority approved the subdivision of the development area

into smaller land units (in terms of section 25(1) of LUPO), it imposed a condition {in terms of section
42 of LUPO) requiring the formation of a “Home Owner's Assaciation” (as envisaged in section 29 of.




of the Estate, and control over all development in the Estate.
article 15.1 of the HOA’s duly approved Constitution (“the HOA Cd
the “business and affairs” of the HOA are managed and controileg
of Trustees (“the BoT").*
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nstitutio
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The Respondent (“Mr Feng") has over several years bought ap
properties in the Estate. As a property owner in the Estate, Mr Fer

nd developed

g is (andihas
at all relevant times been) a member of the HOA — and is bound b

the HOA Constitution.®

y the terms of

It appears that the relationship between Mr Feng and the BoT has been strained
rent
fMr

t 24

for some time. This has given rise to previous litigation, culminating in the curn

matter — in which the HOA seeks an order for the provisional sequestration o
Feng's estate., in accordance with sections 9(1) and 10 of the Insa

of 1936 ("the Act’).

lvency Ag

The relationship between the HOA and Mr Feng is marked by mutual antipathy,

serious allegations of dishonesty, and recriminations. None of this is immediately

relevant.

What is relevant is that at some time in or before 2021, Mr Feng obtained

approvals to establish sectional title schemes on two of the erven in the Estate

LUPO). In accordance with section 29(2)(a) of LUPQ, this HOA had to be establi
corporate”. This is reflected in Article 1 of the HOA Constitution.
2 |n terms of section 29(2){b)(i) of LUPOQ, the "object’ of the HOA Constitution had to rej;

shed as a thody

ate to “the control

over and the maintenance of buildings, services and amenifies’ in the Estate. H

lowing from this

requirement, Article 3 of the HOA Constitution describes the HOA's "main business” a

s the “promption,

interests of property owners in the Estate. Clause 4 of the HOA Constitution expands on the OA's

advancement and protection” of the 8-hole golf course lying at the heart of the EstaEe, as well as the

“main object’, which care and control of defined “private areas”, and the goif course; as well as control

over the “design and maintenance of buildings and other improvements” on all erven
3 Mr Feng's answering papers attached the original iteration of the HOA's Constit
approved by the competent authority in 2000 (as annexure “LF3"). The HOA's replyi
the Iatest iteration of the Constitution, which reflects that it was approved as a Speacial
of the HOA on 15 October 2013 (annexure “CJG12"). The amendments do not appea
any issue in this matter.

4 The provisions of the HOA Constitution refer to a “Trusfese Committee”, which is de
of the HOA Constitution) as the “Board of Trustees” of the HOA.

5 In terms of section 29(2)(b)(i)) and 22(2)(c) of LUFPO, the HOA’s constitution had
owners of properties in the Estate were members of the HOA — and were “jointly liab
incurred in connection with the [HOA]". This is reflected in Article 6.1 of the HOA C
states that membership of the HOA is compulsory; and Article 6.6 which states that n

pnstitution,
nembers may not

within the Estate.
ution, which was
ng papers attach
General Meeting
to be relevant to

fined (in Arficle 1

o require that all

e for expenditure

resign from the HOA. Article 6.4 determines that when erven are sold, the HOA must consent and the

Deed of Transfer must impose a condition requiring the buyer to become a member ¢

of the HOA.
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that he then owned at the time. This frustrated the members of the BoT at the
time, who took the view that Mr Feng did not have the right |to effectively
subdivide the two erven through the creation of sectional titie schemes. The HOA
thus refused to issue “fevy clearance certificates” to Mr Feng, whigh he reguired
in order to transfer the arising sectional units to new owners.

6. Mr Feng thus brought two interlinked applications before this Court, in which he

sought to compel the HOA to issue the requisite certificates for the two affected
erven (“the previous applications”).® The HOA opposed both| applications,
which were set down before this Court for hearing on 14 March 2023. -

7. However, at some point before the hearing, the substantive relief sought in both

of the previous applications became moot. This came about as Mr Feng obtajned
documents that at least purported to be the requisite clearance certificates; jand
he was able to transfer the sectional units on the two affected grven to hew

owners,’

8. Only the issue of liability for the costs of both applications remained unresolved.

In identical Orders of 14 March 2023, this Court (per Ms Justice Cloete — the
Orders”), which:

8.1. Recorded that the main relief in both of the previous applications (had

become moot; and

8.2. Each party would bear its own costs, save that Mr Feng would be liable for
identified wasted costs incurred by the HOA (relating to postponements on
30 May 2022 and 27 October 2022; and costs incurred as a resuit of Mr
Feng persisting with the previous applications after 27 Octobier 2023).

9. The wasted costs were duly taxed. On 29 November 2023, this Court's Taxing
Master issued an aflocatur which determined that Mr Feng's liability to the HOA
was in the amount of R172 349.36. On 30 November 2023 the H(QA's attorneys

¢ Under case numbers 21084/2021, and 21085/2021.
" The HOA suggests that the certificates were fraudulently obtained. Mr Feng disputep this, and states
that the members of the BoT resigned en masse in this period; and as a resuit he afd other property
owners were col-opted as Trustess. At this time the BoT approved that the managing agent couldfissue
the certificates, which was done, '
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11.

12.

13.

14.

send a demand for payment of this amount by no later than Monday, 4 December

2023.

Mr Feng has not at any stage disputed his liability fo the HOA for

the allocatur. However, he has not made payment as required. As

the amaunt in
aresult, opn 6

December 2023, the HOA obtained a warrant of execution against Mr Feng's
movable property (‘the warrant’) situated at his property located at 15

St Andrews Drive, Gordon’s Bay (“Mr Feng’s residence”). This reJidence is also

in the Estate.

After several attempts, the warrant was personally served on

Mr Feng on

1 February 2024 at his residence, by a Deputy Sheriff of this Court for Strand —
Mr K Daniels (“the Deputy Sheriff'). The return of service (‘the return’)

indicates that the Deputy Sheriff explained “the nature and exi
process to Mr Feng, Eand demanded payment. Mr Feng, however,

gency” of the
informed the

Deputy' Sheriff that “it was impossible to 'pay the amount claimed| or any sum’.

The return cohtinues[that the Deputy Sheriff thereafter identified

and attached

items of household furniture, electronic equipment, and appliances — with an
estimated value of just R7 500 (“the attached property"). The Deputy Sheriff

indicated in the return that these items “were pointed out to me / found by me".

i
As it happens, the HOA was not even able to obtain the value of the attached

property. Mr Feng's imother, Ms Li Chung Feng, submitted a ¢laim that the

attached property actiually belonged to her.

In a letter of 13 Febm;ary 2024 the HOA's attorneys advised Mr Fe
that his actions, as refpresented in the return, amounted to an “act

as provided for in section 8(b) of the Act — and that the HOA wa
application for the sequestration of Mr Feng's estate. A duly app

could then deal with |Mr Feng's moveable and immaovable prope
also deal with Ms Feng's claim to the attached property).

“Mr Feng and his atto {'neys did not respond.

ng's aitorneys
of insolvency”
uld launch an
ointed trustee
rty (and could




15.  In the current application the HOA asserts that in these circumstances |t

16.

17.

5

fulfilled the requirements in section 10 of the Act, and is entitled to obtainf r

for the provisional sequestration of Mr Feng's estate, in that:

15.1. The HOA has a liquidated claim against Mr Feng, which is due and pay

— as required in terms of sections 9(1) and 10(a) of the Act.

15.2. Mr Feng’s actions, reflected in the return, amount to an "act
as referred to in section 8(b) and 10(b) of the Act. (] note that

. papers, the HOA submitted that — in.the alternative — Mr Feng
insolvent. The HOA does not, however, persist wit‘hr this conts

of insolye
n its foun
was facfy

2niion).

15.3. There is a clear advantage to creditors, as required in terms olvsection: 1

of the Act. This is so in that Mr Feng is the registered o

immoveable properties, all of which are unbonded. These include: (a

Feng's residence in the Estate (erf 6221, Gordon’s Ba
purchased on 14 November 2015 for R260 000; (b) Erf 911,
(situated at 28 Dennehof Street, Dobson, Gordon's Ba

purchased on 31 January 2020 for R535 000; and (c) Erf 5356, Gord
Bay which he purchased on 13 November 2023 for R780-000. Consids

the purchase prices, the HOA submits that the properties

likely of more than R1.5 million. Against this, the lik
sequestration would be R266 577.13 — leaving at least R1 23
distribution to the HOA as a concurrent creditor, which would

in full. Mr Feng admits that he owns all of these properties,
are Une_ncumb'ered. He states that his residence is i
R2285 000; erf 911 is valued at R850 000; and erf 5356
R780 000.

In argument, Mr Heunis, who appeared on behalf of the HOA, ur

further and to exercise the Court's powers to grant a "just” order -

with section 9(5) of the Act — and to grant a final order of sequestration.

Based on my understanding of Mr Feng’s answering papers (dep
May 2023), it appears that he opposes the application on four bas
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17.1.Eirst, he contends that the HOA is not properly before this|Court. |n|this
regard, Mr Feng notes that the HOA's founding affidavit was deposed to
by Mr Christopher John Grimsom (“Mr Grimson"), in his sta%téd capacity as
the chairperson of the HOA's BoT; and relies on a resolution of Bo[T |of 8
May 2023. Mr Feng, however, disputes that Mr Grimson jwas prpperly
appointed to the BoT. He also disputes that the BoT’s resolution of 8 May
2023 indicates that it resolved to bring the current applicaticn, or authprjsed
Mr Grimson to depose to affidavits on behalf of the HOA.

17.2. Second, he presents a sprawling argument in whichhe contends thai the
founding papers in the current application were not properly served op him.

and the position of chairperson.

17.3. Third, he disputes the HOA's central contention that he committed an act
of insolvency as defined in section 8(b) of the Act. In this regard, Mr Heng

|
disputes the factual correctness of the contents of the return of service,

17.4. Fourth, he disputes that the HOA establishes any factual insolvency, a debt
that is is due and payable, or advantage to creditors.

MR FENG'’S INTERLOCUTORY APPLICATION

18. Shortly before filing answering papers in the main application, Mr, Feng gaused
his attorneys to issue a notice in terms of Rule 7(1) (“the Rule 7(1) notice), in
which he required the HOA to provide:

18.1. Any resolutions of the BoT authorising the institution of proceedings, and
authorising Mr Grimson to depose to affidavits on behalf of tl:ae HOA,

|
18.2. A notice of the HOA's last Annual General Meeting (‘AGM"), anpd the
minutes of the AGM (at which the current members of the BoT were

“purportedly elected").

18.3. The minutes of every meeting of the BoT during the preceding 24 months.




19.

20.

21.

22.

18.4.A copy of the BoT's minute book for the preceding 24 mohths, showing
where the current members of the BoT were elected and/or provided
authority to bring the current application.

In response, the HOA issued a hotice in terms of Rule 30 of the Uniform Ruies,
positing that the Rule 7(1) notice constituted an irregular step in th’at, inten alia:

19.1.Rule 7(1) related to a contestation of the authority of an aftoiney

representing one of the parties, and not to the authority of a deponent; and
19.2. Rule 7(1) did not allow a party to cali for specific documents.

In the event, on 11 June 2024 Mr Feng brought an interlocutonfy appligation,
which was set down for hearing at the same date as the mairj matter. The
interlocutory application was purportedly made in terms of Rule 7(1) of [this
Court's Uniform Rules, and sought orders: |

20.1. Directing the HOA to deliver the documents referred to in the Rule (1)
notice within 10 days; and '

20.2. Postponing the main application sine die, only fo be set doWn again after
the documents had been provided.

On 1 July 2024 the HOA simultaneously filed its replying paper$ in the main
application; and its answering papers in the interlocutory applic?tion. In poth
cases, Mr Grimson dealt with the attack on his authority and his status as the

HOA's chairperson.

But Mr Feng remained unmoved, and persisted with his demand for the relief in
his interlocutory application. Af the hearing, the parties agreed that | should| first
hear arguments regarding the interlocutory application before continuing|te the
main application. After hearing these arguments, | dismissed the interlocutory
application, with costs. As a result, the parties proceeded to arguments reganding
the main application.




23.

MR GRIMSON’S POSITION AND AUTHORISATION

24,

25.

26.

27.

28.

28.

— appears from the face of the resolution that it was approved by three me

| indicated that the reasons for dismissing the interlocutory application wou:r be
/

provided together with the judgment in the main application, which | do
dealing with the issue of authority.

hen

As noted above, in the founding affidavit presented on behalf of the HOQA, Mr

Grimson indicated that: he was the chairperson of the BoT, and that he wa;

Q T

authorised to depose (o this affidavit 6n behalf of the HOA as is confirme

copy of a resolution marked ‘CJG 1’ dated 8 May 2023 confirming this facy’

duly
by a

However, Mr Grimson’s statements and the resolution of 8 May 2023, diq not

satisfy Mr Feng; and he notes that he found it “fefling” that the resolution did not

“confer upon Grimson authority to bring this application”.

Mr Feng's approach is somewhat pedantic. It ought to have been obvious

the resolution of 8 May 2023 could only have related to the fact _of“Mr'Grims

appointment as chairperson of the BoT; and could not refate to any author
relating to the current proceedings. After all, the entire basis for the
application is premised on a debt arising from the allocétqr issued by this ¢
Taxing Master on 29 November 2023.

The attached resolution is also quite clear in that it records a “resolution to
Christopher Grimson as Chairperson of the [BoT] with immediate effe

of the BoT (all of whom counter-sign the resolution); with one member op
and another two abstaining.

In any event, based on his own suspicions, Mr Feng caused his attorney

issue the Rule 7(1) notice referred fo above. As also noted above, the
posited that this was an irregular step.

In his replying affidavit in the main application (and answering affidavit| ir
interfocutory application), Mr Grimson refers to and attaches a resolution o
BoT, dated 28 February 2024, in which it “resolved, ratified and confirmed 1,

/s to

HOA

1 the
f the
hat":




30.

31.

32.

33.

34.

35.

29.1.The HOA's attorneys of record were authorised o proceed with an

application for the sequestration of Mr Feng’s estate; and

29.2. Mr Grimsen, in his capacity as the chairperson of the HOA, was “authorised

fo sign alf relevant documentation and affidavits which may be necespary

for the abovementioned application”.

The resolution records the names of four members of the HOA, and is counter-

signed by each of them (including Mr Grimson).

In his replying éfﬁdavit, Mr Grimson also confirms that he is authorised to bring

the current proceedings on behalf of the HOA. He further named the eight current

members of BoT.

One would have expected that this resolution, read together with the resglution

of 8 May 2023 (appointing Mr Grimson as chairperson of the HOA), should Have

put an end to Mr Feng’s challenges to Mr Grimson's authorisation. But this

was

|
not to be. Instead, Mr Feng doubled-down by bringing the interlogutory

application, which is quite evidently a tool to extract documentation from: the

HOA, on the apparently speculative basis that it would or could form the b%sis

for a renewed and strengthened challenge to Mr Grimson’s authorisation.

Arising from this, it appears to me that two issues arise, being: (a) Whether Rule

7(1) can be employed as a means to extract documentation from the HOA;

and

(b) whether Mr Feng has established any basis on which this Court might be
inclined to ‘look behind’ the validity of the BoT's resolution of 8 May 202$ (to
appoint Mr Grimson as chairperson), or the BoT’s resolution of 28 February 2E024

(authorising the current application and empowering Mr Grimson to siglﬁ all

relevant documents and affidavits).

|

| deal with each of these issues below. But, in my view, both of the above ss}ues

must fail for the same reason: Mr Feng has failed to raise a direct chaile'ngie to

any resolutions of the AGM or a meeting or the BoT.

In the context of any exercise of public powers the principle is now

|
|
!
!

well-
established that decisions stand as valid; and must be acknowledged as fact

until




:

E
they are set aside. Even in the case of decisions that may appear to have I:i}een
taken in a manner that is ultra vires cannot simply be disregarded as a nullity 8

36. In my view the same principle must apply, for the same reasons, in respe

10

decisions taken by a juristic body like the HOA — which was established as a

condition for the approval of land use planning when the Estate was establis
pursuant to statutory requirements.®

37. Inthe current context, this is underscored by the HOA Constitution:

37.1.Clause 18.9 'stétes that “alf competent resolutions recorded in the min

Trustee Committee shall be of any force and effect, or shall be binding
members or on any of the Trustees unless such Resolution is compe

ned;

Lites

of any Trustee Committee shall be valid and of fulf force and effect as

therein recorded, with effect from the passing of such Resolutions, and
varied or rescinded , but no Resolution or purported Resolution of

within the powers of the Trustee Committee”.

Lintif
the
y on

tent

37.2.Clause 16.11 states that “a Resolution signed by the Trustees shall be valid

in all respects as if it had been duly passed as a meeting of the Tru
Committee duly convened.”

sfee

37.3.Clause 16.12 states that “all acts done by a meeting of the Trustees or a

38. Furthermore, when | asked, | was informed by Mr Heunis (for the HOA) th

Committee of the Trustees shall, notwithstanding that it be afterw%rds

discovered that there was some defect in the appointment of any such

Trustee or person acting as aforesaid or that they or any of them
disqualified, be valid as if every such person had been duly appointed
were qualified to be a Trustee.”

¥ Qudekraal Estates (Pty) Lid v City of Cape Town and Others 2004 (6) SA 222 (SCA), MEC for|
Eastern Cape and Another v Kirland Investments (Pty) Ltd 2014 (3) SA 481 (CC) (25 March 201
para 100-102; Merafong City Local Municipality v AngloGold Ashanti Limited 2017 (2) SA 211|(G
para 34-40; Department of Transport and Others v Tasima (Pty} Limited 2017 (2) SA 822 (CC)

are
and

1# the
HOA is a "community scheme” registered under the Community Sche

mes

Health,

4) at
C) at

% See footnotes 1 and 2 above. The confinued operation of the HOA remains compulsory for the Eptate,

even though LIPO has been repealed. See section 78(1) of the Western Cape Land 1se Planning

of 2014.

Act3



39.

40.

(@)

41.

42.

43.

-1

Ombud Services Act (‘the CSOS Act’). As such, in terms of section 39(4)(

b)and

(c) of the CSOS Act, the Community Schemes Ombud Service (“CSOS")§ has
jurisdiction to consider matters in which a challenge is made as to whethier a

meeting of the HOA or the BoT is validly convened; and a challenge th
resolution taken at the AGM or a meeting of the BoT is either invalid or vo

atg any
fdi

Furthermore, in terms of section 41(1) of the CSOS Act, Mr Feng had 60 cjiays

after any resolution was taken at a meeting of the HOA or the BoT to cha
that resolution.

Mr Feng thus cannot ask this Court to ignore any decisioné or'r‘eScJIutions o)
and its BoT - including the resolutions of 8 May 2023 and 28 February 20

The Rule 7(1) notice

In my view Rule 7(1) can be appropriately employed to challenge the authg
a deponent claiming to represent a party; and is not mere[y ||m|ted tothe au
of the attorneys representing any party.™ ' '

But this does not assist Mr Feng. The only challenges he can raise are
authority of Mr Grimson, based on allegations that he is not a mer;beru of th
appointed at the 2022 AGM, and as such cannot claim be chairperson
BoT; and allegations that the BoT did not authorise the current proceedin

authorise Mr Grimson to depose to affidavits on behalf of the HOA.

These contentions have been fully met by the production of the Bc‘?T’s resol
of 8 May 2023 and 28 February 2024. The fact that the BoTcLs resolut

28 February 2024 was not aftached to the founding papers is not of any par

Hénge

f HOA

ity of
thority

fo the
e ZBoT
mT the
gs or

utions
iofn of
tigular

importance. VWhen Mr Feng (in answer) questions whether the EOT authorised

the current proceedings, and whether Mr Grimson is authorised tp represeeni the

material improperly raised in reply, but a valid response to a contention ra

HOA, the resolution of 28 February 2024 was produced in reply. Ehis is not j;new

Mr Feng’s answering papers.t!

" ANC Umvoti Councif Caucus and others v Umvoli Municipality 2010 (3) SA 31 (KZP) at para
" Moosa & Cassirm NNO v Community Deévelopment Board 1280 (3) SA 175 (A) 180 H-J. :

|
|

séd in

22 29,




44.

45.

46.

(b)

47.

12

For the rest, Mr Feng’s Rule 7(1) notice and his interlocutory app

ication b

very different goal: Namely to compel the production of documentary evi

in the hope that these documents will provide a stronger challen
Mr Grimson’s authority and the validity of the resolutions of 8 May 2023 3

February 2024. This is not the purpose of Rule 7(1).

fn my view, Mr Feng had other tools at his disposal which he ougk
if he wished to challenge the BoT's ability to bring proceedings ag

45.1.1n the first place, he could have demanded information fr
terms of his rights u‘nder the HOA bansfitution; and if reft
have brought an application for a mandatory interdict to.com
with the terms of the HOA Constitution. But he did not do
event, the HOA has invited him to access minutes of the n
BoT.

45.2.In the second place, he could have exercised his rig
Promotion of Access fo Information Act 2 of 2000. Again, he

1t to have

yainst hin

om the B
jsed', he'
pel corhp
50, and

neetings

hts undé
failed to

45.3.1n the third place, he could have sought an application under Rule

of the Uniform Rules, for this Court to direct that the rules of disg

should apply to the current matter. Again, he did not do so.

But even so, Mr Feng’s problem is not constrained to his procédurai mist

relying on the wrong Rule. As dealt with above, even if he could lay his har

all of the documents he seeks, this would only assist him if he could then u

information to raise a direct challenge to the BoT's resolutions o
and/or 28 February 2024 before CSOS, or alternatively, before t
no reasonable prospect that any such challenge would have a

chance of succeeding.
Mr Grimson’s appointment as chairperson
Mr Feng points out the following:

47.1. At a contentious AGM held on 13 June 2022, seven propér
appointed to the BoT. Thereafter, five members of the

f 8 March
his Court
Ny reasg

fy owners

jave a
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48.

49,

50.

47.2.1n order to ensure the continued operation of the BoT, the managing

47.3.Mr Feng notes that "on or about 20 Sepfember 2022 an SGM

47.4.No further AGM has been held since June 2022, despitejt e requir¢

13

leaving only two BoT members (Mr Robert Young and Mr Paul Gove
Th HOA adds that the five BoT members who resigned did so on the
that the AGM process was flawed

of the Estate arranged for three property owners to iba co-opt
the BoT
fo remain until a Special General Meeting ("SGM"} to be held |

members of the BoT, including Mr Feng. These members o

September 2022. The HOA contends that such co-option was not poIsib!e,

as the two remaining BoT members could by themselves m ke ares
to co-opt new members to join the BoT. Itis not clear to me why any
historical material is relevant.

supposedly convened in which new Trustees were supposedly appol
Clearly Mr Feng elected not to attend, or fo stand for further appoin
as a member of the BoT. He refers to a newsletter received at some

after the SGM, buit this does not disclose who was appointed to the E

that an AGM be held every year. On this basis Mr Feng suggests th
members of the BoT elected in June 2022 cannot Iawfu|l§r ontinue

nder),
hjasis

agent
od as
[ wiweré
orf 20

lytion
ofithis

! was
nted.”
trﬁent

ﬁoint
SOET.

arhent
at the
to;act,

In that capacity, and Mr Grimson cannot present himself as the chairpeison

of the BoT.

Mr Feng's concerns are met by the HOA, which notes the names ¢
who were appointed as BoT members at the SGM (being Lyn Goy
Buys, Dudley Paulton; Nabeel Bassadien;, Naweed Johnson
Rensburg (who resigned and was replaced by Pieter Theron); an

In addition other property owners in the Estate now serve as meh
— being Mr Grimson (who serves as chairperson, which is ¢o
resolution of 8 May 2023); Mr Louis Kruger; and Mr Attie S_adie:.

The appointment of new members to the BoT outside of a
contentious. Clause 15.3 of the HOA Constitution allows the Bb’i

f seven |

epple

render; H
; Maryn
d Brian D

bers of th
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51.

52.

53

54,

55.

SERVICE OF THE FOUNDING PAPERS ON MR FENG

56.

14 ;

|
the BoT any member of HOA, or the spouse of a member of the

HOA. Such Co-

opted members enjoy all the rights, and are subject to all of thé obligations of a

Trustee. This is necessary to ensure that the BoT at all times cén
5 members (as required by clause 12.3 of the HOA Constitutioﬁ_)

sists of at least

In my view Mr Feng is correct to flag as a concern that the HOA has not held an
AGM since 2022, contrary to the requirements of the HOA Coﬁs:titution —|which

envisages that an AGM is held every year. This is clearly undeBirable. But he is

clearly mistaken when he suggests that, as a result, the people ?appointed at that

2022 AGM automaticaily lost their membership of the BoT ‘after

they could not make decisions to co-opt new members onto the BoT.

a year; or that

On the contrary, clause 12 .4 of the HOA Constitution affirms thait members of the
BoT elected at the AGM “shall remairr in office until the foﬂom}ing [AGM]"; and

clause 12.5 of the HOA provides the same for co-opted members of the BoT.

In these circumstances, there is no obvious basis for Mr Feng to contend that the

HOA currently does not have a BoT,; or that the existing men?bers of the }BOT

have lost their powers in any manner to make decisions (in acc;o rdance with the

HOA Constitution). Mr Feng’s remedy is to compei the BoT to .c;a
|

Furthermore, there is no obvious basis to doubt the resolutionis
{appointing Mr Grimson as chairperson); or 28 February 2024 (éu.
proceedings, and Mr Grimson's power to sign any process).jT
meetings of the BoT is three persons (clause 16.3 of the HOA C:o

decisions are made with the approval of 50% of the members ﬁreesent.

Also, clause 31.8 of the HOA empowers the BoT to institute iegal
any Court having jurisdiction. |

lan AGM.

of 8 May 2023
thorising|these
he quorurﬁ for
nstitution) and

proceedings in

A return of service included in the Court file indicates that on 18 April 2024 at

9h30, the same Deputy Sheriff (as referred to in paragraph 11 above) personally

served the “the Notice of Motion in this matter” on Mr Feng at his residence [being

the same residence as referred to in paragraph 10 above).“l

he return ‘also
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58.

59.

60.

But in his answering papers in the main application Mr Feng a

15
indicates that the Deputy Sheriff handed a copy of the papers io

appearance date of 30 April 2024.

On 30 April 2024 this Court {per Ms Justice Ndita) granted
agreement between the HOA and Mr Feng: 1

Mr Feng “after

_explaining the nature and exigency of the said process” Qand records an

an Order, by

37.1. Postponing the hearing to the semi-urgent roll the Fourth Division of‘ this

Court, to be heard on 5 August 2024;

57.2. Setting out a timetable for the filing of answering ‘and replying papers, and

directing that heads of argument would be filed in terms
practice directives; and ‘

57.3. Directing that costs would stand over for later determinati¢n.

return of 18 April 2024 is untrue. He states that he did not see th.e
on this day, and he found the founding papers in his post hox (on
Mr Feng immediately took the papers to his aitorney of record.

Mr Feng’s attorney then took this up with the Sheriff of this Court

of this C:ourt's_

rgues that the
Deputy Sheriff
18 April 2024),

for Strand;-, Mr

Deon Burger (“the Sheriff’). In response, the Deputy Sheriff provided an affidavit
(deposed to on 10 May 2024), in which he stated that he introduced himself to
Mr Feng and explained the content of the documents. Mr Feng fe fused to accept

the documents, and indicated that he would take this up with his attorney. When

Mr Feng failed to reappear, the Deputy Sherrif placed the documents in My

Feng's post box.

Mr Feng's attorneys reverted on 15 May 2024, indicating that he
issue with the contents of the Deputy Sheriffs affidavit (which he
with Mr Feng), “but rather how the process was brought to [Mr |
that remains unanswered.” It was also pointed out that this did N

was not ta.king
was taking up

eng’] at ention
ot explain why

the version placed in Mr Feng's post box did not contain a manuscript addition in

the Notice of Motion, which indicated that the matter would serve beforé this

Court on 30 April 2024. Mr Feng's attorney concluded by asserting that %‘it is
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indisputable that the return and events do not align”. In this Court Mr Feng

states

in stronger terms that the Deputy Sheriff's affidavit “differed materiaﬂy’ from the

content of the return of 18 April 2024.

In a further response of 15 May 2024, the Sheriff explained that Mr Fen]

g haq

refused to open the gate to his property (although he had abtained conﬁrrnatioﬁ
from a person who had opened a “buite hek’, or outer gate, for the Deputy
Sheriff). Mr Feng stated that he had his attorney on his telephone, and re oqrted

that his attorney had advised him not to accept service. (The Sherrif

quite

understandably indicates that he trusts that Mr Feng's attorney would not Haave.

given such advice).

The Sheriff continued that the Deputy Sheriff had spoken to Mr Feng per‘sor{ally,

and that the Deputy Sheriff's affidavit indicated that Mr Feng walked away and
did not reappear. On the basis that the Dep‘uty Sheriff had spoken to Mr Feng,
this was taken as personal service, and the documents were placed in the post

box. The Sheriff confirmed that he was satisfied that this constituted personal

service — while at the same time acknowledging that the Deputy Shejriff'S

description in his return could have been more fully expressed. He had taken this

up with the Deputy Sheriff.

In a final riposte of 15 May 2024, Mr Feng’s attorney insisted that his client
to his version, and that the return and the deputy Sheriff's affidavit pres
contradictory versions. This would be raised before this Court and the O
Sheriff could be called to explain himself. It was also contended that the G
Sheriff's versions were improbable if regard was had to the layout of the prg
the fact that Mr Feng was supposedly travelling to an (unnamed) correspg
aftorney at the time (9h30); and that Mr Feng called his attorney at 11h00
he found the documents in his post box. |

Uitimately Mr Feng contends that flowing from the above this Court shouid

stuck
ented
eputy
eputy
péﬁy;
ndent
when

make

a finding that there has been no compliance with Rule 4 of the Uniform Rules,

which is “pre-emptive”, and that the application should be dismissed on thig
alone.

basis
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| am not inclined to make any finding that the Deputy Sheriff was delibsarétely

untruthful in completing the return of service of 18 April 2024, or in his affio
10 May 2024,

In the first place, in my view the differences between the Deputy Sheriff's
of service of 18 April 2024, and his affidavit of 10 May 2024, do not indica
obvious fabrication. | agree with the views expressed by the Sheriff that the

avit of

return
ter any
return

of service could have relayed events more fully, but | do not see the si:ar‘tling

contradiction presented by Mr Feng and his attorney. The Deputy §
consistently states that he explained the documents to Mr Feng. Furthem
would cause obvious frustration to the work of the office of the Sheriff if pe
service could be avoided by a person simply refusing to take the documen.
their hands. In my view, the Deputy Sheriff was entitled to view his attem

hand the documents to Mr Feng as personal service.

In the second place, Mr Feng must ask this Court to reject both: the retur

the Deputy Sheriff's affidavit; and to accept his unadorned assertion that
not see the Deputy Sheriff on 18 April 2024. | am not inclined to do so on

Sheriff
ore, it
rsbna_l
ts into
pfs fo

m and
he did
behalf

of a party in application proceedings, regarding contested factual evénts

presented by a party who is not even a party before the Court.

Plainty the HOA cannot assist in presenting additional facts in this regard
Feng wished this Court to make such a factual finding, he should have cal
oral evidence on this issue. This was not done.

In the third place, | have grave concerns about Mr Feng’s scant dealing
his activities on the day in support of his contention that he did not see the [

If Mr
led for

s with
Deputy

Sheriff on 18 April 2024. In his attorney's letter of 15 May 2024, it is suggested

that at 9h30 on 18 April 2024 (i.e. the time that the Deputy Sheriff was pr
Mr Feng was away from home, travelling to a correspondent attorney. Thig

esent)

is not

repeated by Mr Feng under oath. All that he states is that he saw the documents

sticking out of his post office when leaving his property at 11h00.

In the fourth place, even if Mr Feng’s version was to be accepted, his arg
places form over substance. Mr Feng clearly found the documents on 1
2024; understood the contents; and was represented in Court on 30 Apri

ument
3 April
| 2024
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when an Order was made for the further handling of the matter. No issu
raised at that stage. He also had a full opportunity to file answering paper
an interlocutory application}, and does not allege that any shortcomings

mode of service caused him any prejudice (material or otherwise).

In these circumstances it would be unjustifiable to allow Mr Feng to be
raise technical shortcomings in service by the Sheriff as a defence to the
application. To the extent that there were any shortcomings in the mq
service and compliance with Rule 4, these are condoned.

e was
s (and
in the

aledly
HOA'S
vde of

72. The HOA's application relies on section 8(a) of the Insolvency Act to esitablish

73.

74.

an act of insolvency. This provides as follows:

“ A debtor commits an act of insolvency -

(b) if a court has given judgment against him and he fails, upg
demand of the officer whose duty it is to execute that judgms
satisfy it or fo indicate to that officer disposable property suffic
salisfy it, or if it appears from the return made by that officer t
has not found sufficient disposable property to satisfy the judgn

The HOA points out that this provision finds easy application. The Order

i the
2nt, fo
ent o
hat he
rent’.

of this

Court of 30 April 2023 found that Mr Feng was liable to the HOA for identified

wasted costs. These wasted costs have been taxed. Mr Feng has not sou
review the Taxing Master's allocatur. Mr Feng failed to make payment,
warrant of execution was duly issued for the amount in the aflocatur. The [J
Sheriff's return indicates that Mr Feng informed the Deputy Sheriff that *
impossible to pay the amount claimed or any sum”; and based on items p
out and found, the Sheriff was only able to attach immovable property
value of R7 500. But these attached goods are disputed by Ms Feng.

When section 8(b) of the Act is triggered in this manner, the HOA was ent
bring an application for the sequestratlon of Mr Feng's estate, without any
that he is factually insolvent.'?

ght to
and a
Deputy
it;was
ointed
ta the

tled to
/ proof

12 Da Vifliers NO v Maureen Properties 1993 (4) SA 670 (T) at 676; and DP Du Plessis Prokwreurs 1

Van Aarde 1999 (4) SA 1333 (T) at 1338,
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Against this Mr Feng raises a factual dispute. Once again he contends that the
return issued by the Deputy Sheriff is factually wrong. Mr Feng admits that the

Deputy Sheriff “attended upon my residence on the day of 1 February 202

also accepts that the Deputy Sheriff undertook an inspection &o establ

4" He
ish an

inventory of available movable property in Mr Feng's residence; and that the only

property identified by the Deputy Sheriff in fact belongs to his mather.

Mr Feng also does not dispute that the only property that the Sheriff could i_:lentifj/

for attachment at his residence had a value of just R7500; and that there was no

other property at the residence that could be attached to settle any part
debt owed to the HOA. '

But for the rest Mr Feng contends as follows:

77.1.He invited the Deputy Sheriff in, who sat down and advised Mr Fer

of the

g that

he had to take an inventory of the goods in his house. Mr Feng particularly

- - recalls that the Deputy Sheriff fold him that he “had a nice house”.

77.2. The Deputy Sheriff did not demand payment, and did not ask Mr F
identify disposable property belonging to him. Mr Feng contends th
Sheriff took it upon himself to make an ihventory of goods, and “/f
more than ‘please and thank you’ to the [Deputy Sheriff] that was the
of our conversation”.

77.3.1f the Deputy Sheriff had demanded payment and asked Mr Fs
property, he would have pointed to: (a) his ownership of his reside
which Mr Feng states is unencumbered and has a value of over R2 1
and (b) the other two immovable properties that he owns.

77.4. The return does not state anywhere that the Deputy Sheriff asked M

“fo point out disposable property which includes immovable property.

g to
at the
Ifsaid

eXtent

2ng to
nce —

million;

r Feng

e




78. Against the backdrop of these factual assertions, Mr Aarninkhof, who apy

79,

80.
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veared

for Mr Feng, correctly notes that section 8(a) envisages two "sbparate acts of

insolvency” 13 |

78.1.The first is where the debtor is served with a writ by the Shériff, and ffails to
satisfy the judgment or to “indicate disposable property s#fﬁcient for that
purpose’. Based on his factual contentions, Mr Feng alleg]es that this did

not occur, and that if asked he would have pointed to his immovable

properties.

78.2.The second is where the debtor is se_ryed with a writ by the Sh_efiﬁ, and the

Sheriff is unable to himself find “sufficient disposable property” — whether

moveable orimmovable. Mr Feng contends that this also did not happen as

the Sheriff would have to then undertake a diligent search. If this was
the Sheriff would have identified Mr Feng’'s immovable properties as
available.

done',
being

Based on the judgment of the full courtin ABSA Bank v Collier,'* the HOA clearly
cannot rely on the second basis above. Although acting in ferims of a writ of

execution against movables, the Deputy Sheriff's return cannot be regarg
the basis for a finding that there is an act of insolvency in terms of sectior
if the Deputy Sheriff's own efforts to find “disposable praperty’ did not co
whether Mr Feng had available immovable property that could be dispog
This is true a fortiori in cases in which Mr Feng's properties are Qnencum
and it would not pose an impossible obstacle to the HOA to obtain a w
against at least two of Mr Feng’s properties (in that they are dot used
primary residence).

But it is different in the first category of cases. If the debtor fails (when as}
the Deputy Sheriff) to point out-any movable or immovable property, an
insolvency arises. This is confirmed in ABSA Bank Limited v Appelcry
which the the Court noted that the debtor had “informed the Sherriff that
not have sufficient movable assets with which to satisfy the judgment deb

13 Rodrew (Ply) Ltd v Rossouw 1973 (3) 137 (Q) at 138B-C
4 Absa Bank Limited v Collier 2015 (4) SA 364 (WCC) |
5 ABSA Bank Limited v Appeloryn (2019/38568) [2022] ZAGPJHC 429 (28 June 2022) at para

Eeﬂ as
1 8(b),
nsider
ed of.
Dered;
arrant

as his

ked by
act of
n,'% in
he did
f', and
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faited to point out his immovable properties. The Court distinguished these facts

from those in ABSA Bank v Collier. The Court held as follows:

“In Collier, the debtor had informed the Sherriff of his rmmpvabie pr

operty

and that its value would extinguish the indebtedness owed to the c;req:tor

There was no suggestion in that case that the property, if

sold,

would not extinguish the indebtedness owed. In the present case, the

respondent failed to inform the Sherriff of the existence and value

of his

immovable properties or to point out disposable properfy of sufficient value

that could be used to expunge the debt owed by him .

In ABSA Bank v Coﬂ.rer the Shem’f s return contained wording Very similar

to that

in the current case - i.e. that it was fmposs:ble to’ pay the amfpunt clafmed or

any sum”. But the debtor alleged, as a fact, that he had informed the Sher

iff that

he owned immovable property that could be disposed of; énd the Bheriff

acknowledged that he constrained his own investigation to avaifable movable

property.

In this Mr Feng does not contend that he informed the Sheriff of the immovable

properties in his portfolio. He also does not contend that the Deputy Speaker only

spoke to him regarding movable property. Rather, he contendsgthat this

Court

should make a factual finding that the Deputy Sheriff did not speak to him at all

~ 1.e. the Deputy Sheriff failed to inform Mr Feng of the debt; the Deputy

failed to determine from Mr Feng whether he had any disposable asset

Sheriff

s and

could settle the debt; the Deputy Sheriff failed to ask Mr Feng to point out any

assets; and that Deputy Sheriff simply proceeded to walk around Mr |
residence, drawing up an inventory of movable property.

| accept that, if Mr Feng's factual allegations are accepted, then the HOA ¢

sustain any case that it has proven the existence of an act of insolve

reng’s

annot
ncy in

accordance with the requirements of section 8(a) of the Act (based on the second

scenario referred to in paragraph 78.2 above).

But, with respect, | find Mr Feng’s factual allegations impossible to accept]

In analysing the factual dispute raised by Mr Feng, the starting QOint mus|
note section 43(2) of the Superior Courts Act 10 of 2013 — in terms of whi
Deputy Sheriff's return is prima facie proof of its contents.

t be 1o
ch the
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Mr Feng thus bears an evidential burden to raise a dispute, based gn

‘ “the

clearest and most satisfactory evidence™6. Mr Feng thus cannot impeacﬁ the

facts reflected in the Deputy Sheriff's return “on flimsy grounds or wher

exists no reasonable basis on which to do so”. }

there

| find that Mr Feng’s factual contentions are flimsy. In fact, eved if Mr Feng dld
not bear any evidentiary burden, his factual allegations are — m the language
adopted in Plascon-Evans — untenable. In Wightman'” the SCA set out the test

as follows: 1

“A real, genuine and bona fide dispute of fact can exist onfy where th courf

“Is satisfied that the party. who purports o raise the dispute has in his affidavit

seriously and unambiguously addressed the fact said to be disputed.|There
will of course be instances where a bare denial meets the requirement
because there is no other way open fo the disputing party and nothing more
can therefore be expected of him. But even that may not be) sufficient if the
fact averred lies purely within the knowledge of the averring party gnd no
basis is laid for disputing the veracity or accuracy of the averment. |When
the facts averred are such that the disputing party must necessarily pgssess
knowledge of them and be able to provide an answer {or countervailing
evidence) if they be not true or accurate but, instead of doing so, rests his

case on a bare or ambiguous denial the court will generally have di :culty

in finding that the Plascon-Evans] test is satisfied."[

In this case Mr Feng's factual allegations are contradictory. He sta
portraying an amiable interaction with the Deputy Sheriff on 18 May 202

ts by
, with

the Deputy Sheriff sitting next to Mr Feng and commenting on thé attractiveness

of Mr Feng’s house. But the, moments later, Mr Feng contends there was
no communication between him and the Deputy Speaker.

Furthermore, Mr Feng is clearly a savvy businessman, who is no push-over. | do

not rely on the Sheriff's statements that Mr Feng is strident and known for his

feisty actions. Buit it is clear to me that it is almost impossible to lend credence

to the idea that Mr Feng would simply sit back, and withodt more
circumstance | allow the Deputy Sheriff to wander around his residence w
explanation.

'® Absa Bank v Coflier at para 37, and cases cited therein,
7 Wightman t/a J W Construction v Headfour (Pty) Ltd [2008] ZASCA 6: [2008] 2 AII SA 512
2008 (3) SA 371 {(SCA) at para 13

n the
ithout

(SCA);
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a house, without any interaction, drawing up an inventory of goods.

In the circumstances, | reject that Mr Feng's factual allegations, and the d

of fact that he aftempts to raise, cannot be accepted. This leaves| the content of

the Deputy Sheriff's returri — which | believe is consistent with an agt of insol
in terns of section 8(b) of the Act.

Mr Fehg does not dispute the aliocatur in the amount of R172 349.36. However,

he denies that he is indebted to the HOA.

in this regard Mr Feng points to correspondence sent by h‘is attorngy in
September 2021 to the HOA's then managing agent, JPS Trust ("JPS"). In this

correspondence, Mr Feng's attorneys asks JPS to provide authoriiy for the

on which it was withholding Mr Feng’s “building deposits”. This was folEowrd by

correspondence in October 2021 in which Mr Feng's attorney sought det

the members of the BoT, which he reguired in order to launch court proceedings.

Mr Feng informs this Court only that he “aiways intended to offet any aTeged

indebtedness which | may owe to the [HOA] by the building deposits and in
accrued.” |

Mr Feng is clearly wrong when he suggests that his indebtedneﬁs to the
under the alfocatur is “alfeged”. This is established by his acceptance th
allocatur was issued by this Court's Taxing Master. |

Moreover, any suggestion that set-off could apply in these circumstances i
respect, risible. Mr Feng fails to explain anything about the build?ng depo
which he refers; the amounts involved; or why his claim again$t the H(

vander around

ispute

yency

basis

ils of

terest

HOA
at the

5, with
sits td
DA for

repayment should be treated as liquidated damages which are due and payable.

In fact, Mr Feng's own attorney’s letter indicates that the HOA diisputed |

ability

to repay the amounts, and accordingly legal proceedings against the HOA were}

threatened. | am not told whether these threatened proceedings were
instituted, or whether such proceedings have been further prosecuted.

n fac%
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in that his attorney’s correspondence indicates that Mr Feng was aware of

potential claim in September 2021).

Mr Feng also attempts to argue that he cannot be expected to pay any a
to the HOA in circumstances in which the “exisfence or otherwise of the
remains in doubt, auditors have raised qualified reports, [and] there
shorfalls in the accounts where there should be no shorfall’. On this ba

moun
[HOA
exist.

5is h

proposes that he “would- be willing to pay this amount into Court, further

alternatively pay same into my attorney’s trust account untif such time ¢
[HOA] is able to present updated and clean financial statements, proof th

as th
at it

properly constituted, and that the funds are not going to be further

misappropriated like the building deposits which | would seek set-off of

alternatively a declaratory order that it is properly constituted.”

This is an empty tender. Mr Feng does not indicate that he has in fact pajd
amount into his attorney’s trust account.

Furthermore, there is no reason why the HOA should be burdened with the
to meet all of Mr Feng's conditions. Mr Feng’s liability to the HOA for the am

In addition, in the event that such legal proceedings were not instituted, it is likel
that Mr Feng's claim against the HOA would now have prescribed. (This follow:

j _

U“I
ouUn

in the aflocatur is uncontested, and payment is due and payable. | do npt se%

any basis on which he can now demand that this Court should give its impr
to his unilaterally imposed conditions before he makes payment.

Furthermeore:

101.1. Mr Feng’'s concerns regarding the HOA's audit reports appears to

matuy
\
|
|

relat

link to concerns raised by the auditor at the AGM in June 2022. My Fen

notes that the HOA’s auditor presented a qualified report in June
based on identified irregularities. But the only irregularity fo wh

2022,
ch nnk

Feng draws attention is that the HOA had not kept separate interest

bearing accounts to hold building 'deposits. Mr Feng continues that th

auditor reported that such accounts had been opened, but did not hol

sufficient funds to cover the building deposits held at 28 February

2021.
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101.2. Mr Feng also notes that in July 2022 the HOA's auditor had fes gned
based on his finding that a reportable irregularity had taken place, ¢r was
taking place in the affairs of the HOA. But this irregularity is not further
explained. Mr Feng also does not explain why such irregularity justifies
his refusal to pay the amount he owes to the HOA.

101.3. At best it would seem that Mr Feng's concern may arise that the HOA
may not have funds to repay his building deposits. But as already, noted,
| am not placed in a position to determine anything about such byilding
deposits; or his claim for the repayment of building deposits to him by
the HOA.

101.4. | can also not make any finding that the HOA is likely to *misappropriate’
funds paid to it, in @ manner akin to the withholding of his byilding
deposits. As noted, the HOA appears to have disputed liability to|repay
such amounts to Mr Feng. It may also be that Mr Feng's claims against
the HOA have prescribed. In these circumstances, Mr Feng’s |loose
allegation of misappropriation by the HOA is regrettable. In any event
repayment of the amounts that Mr Feng owes to the HOA for wasted
costs incurred in dealing with his previous applications would only|serve
to place the HOA in a better position to fill the amounts it holds for
building deposits.

101.5. Mr Feng's contentions that the HOA is not properly constituted |is not
explained, but would seem to be a repetition of his contention that the
last AGM was held in June 2022. But, as dealt with above, the BoT

remains in place. Furthermore, the existence of the HOA arise from

conditions imposed by the competent authority (under statutory
authority) when granting land use planning approvals at the time that the
Estate was established.’® The existence of the HOA is a statutory

requirement, and cannot be ignored.

18 Dealt with in footnotes 1 to 3 above.
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102. Finally, the requirements for a finding of an advantage to creditors is set
Meier v Meier,® citing Meskin v Friedmarn:20 |

“Sections 10 and 12 of the [Act] cast upon a petitioning creditor the o
showing, not merely that the debtor has committed an act of insolve
is insolvent, but also that there is 'reason to believe’ that sequestratit
be fo the advantage of creditors. Under s 10, which sets out the pow
the Court to which the petition for sequestration is first presented, it |
necessary that the Court shall be of the opinion that prima facie h
such ‘reason to believe’. Under s.12, which deals with the position wh
rufe nisi comes up for confirmation, the Court may make a final on
sequestration if it ‘is satisfied’ that there is such reason. to believe.
phrase 'reason to believe', used as it is in both these sections, ind
that it is not necessary, erther at the first or at the final hearing, fi
creditor to induce in the mind of the Court a positive view that sequesi
will be to the financial advantage of creditors. At the final hearing, |
the Court must be ‘satisfied, it is not to be satisfied that sequestratic
be to the advantage of creditors, but only that there is reason to beliey
it wilf be so.” :

103. Mr Feng relies on Gardee?! and Mamacos® to suggest that there
advantage when a debtor’s only creditor seeks the sequestration of the de
estate, and when the debtor already has the benefit of a judgment.

104. But in this case, there is no evidence that the HOA is the only ‘;creditor. tt
be for Mr Feng to provide evidence that the HOA is his only creditor. He do

even make this averment.

105. Furthermore, Mr Feng has frustrated the HOA's ability to make good on the costs

award that it was given. Mr Feng is the author of his own misfortune.
RELIEF AND COSTS

106. | do not agree that this is a matter in which it would be appropriate to lea
the provisional sequestration of the Mr Feng’s estate, and to Qroceed to

order.

i
18 Moier v Meier (15781/2015) [2021 ZAGPPHC 456 (6 July 2021) at para 40- 42
2 Meskin & Co v Friedman 1948 (2) SA 555 (W) at 558 — 559 |
% Gardee v Dhannabta Holdings and others 1978 (1) SA 1066 (N} at 1068-1070 |
2 Mamcos v Davids 1976 SA 19 (C) at 20C ;
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ORDER

1 accordingly make the following order:

1.

APPEARANCES:
For the Applicant: Adv CJ Heunis

For the Respondent: Brett Aarninkhof (Attorney)

Date of hearing: 5 August 2024
Date of judgment: 29 October 2024
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The estate of the Respondent is placed in provisional sequestraiion in the
of the Master of this Court.

A rule nisi is issued upon the Respondent and all interested persons to appear

and show cause, if any, on a date to be determined by the Registrar of this
as to why: |

2.1. The estate of the Respondent should not be finally seqiuestrated
hands of the Master of this Court; and ‘

2.2. The costs of this application should not be costs in the final sequesfration

of the Respondent's estate.

The service and publication of this provisional sequestration order and rule nisi,
granted in terms of paragraphs 1 and 2 above, shall be effected as follows:

3.1. A copy shall be served on the Respondent by the Sheriff of this Co
his deputy; ‘

3.2. A copy shall be served on the Receiver of Revenue by the Sheriff pf this

Court, or his deputy;

3.3. A copy shall be served on the Respondent’s employees (if any) ar

registered trade union(s) that may represent such employees, by the Sheriff

of this Court, or his deputy.
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